

ADK's Bylaws 2020

ADIRONDACK MOUNTAIN CLUB, INC. BYLAWS

ARTICLE I. Name/Corporate Office Section 1. Name. As defined in the Certificate of Incorporation, this corporation is called Adirondack Mountain Club, Inc. This corporation shall also be known as ADK.

Section 2. Office. The principal office of the corporation shall be in Warren County, New York. The corporation may also have offices at such other places within or outside of this state as the Board of Directors (the "Board") may from time to time determine and the business of the corporation may require.

Section 3. Books. There shall be kept at the office of ADK, books of account of the activities and transactions of ADK, including a minute book, which shall contain a copy of the Certificate of Incorporation, a copy of these Bylaws, and all minutes of meetings of the members, of the Board, and of the Executive Committee.

ARTICLE II. The seal of ADK shall be: [image of seal included in Bylaws]

ARTICLE III. Purpose ADK works to protect New York wild lands and waters by promoting responsible outdoor recreation and building a statewide constituency of land stewardship advocates.

ARTICLE IV. Membership

Section 1. Eligibility

1.1. Classes. The voting membership of ADK shall be divided into the following classes: a. Individual: 18 years of age and older.

b. Family: Maximum of any two adults, 18 years of age or older, at the same domicile, each of whom shall be a voting member.

1.2. Conditions.

a. Any eligible person interested in furthering the purposes of ADK may, upon payment of the dues set by the Board, become a voting member of the corporation.

b. A member may be temporarily suspended from the membership or expelled from membership for violation of the Bylaws of ADK or for conduct prejudicial to the best interests of ADK as determined by the Board, provided charges in writing are proffered against such member, a copy thereof served upon such member, and an opportunity afforded such member for a hearing before the Board.

c. Chapter members who affiliate with another Chapter shall pay an annual sum as may be fixed by said Chapter, for the sole use of said Chapter.

Section 2. Member Rights. All members in good standing shall have the right to vote at all meetings of the general membership, be eligible to become a Board member, participate in a committee or committees, participate in the benefits of ADK, and receive notices or reports issued by ADK.

Section 3. Chapter Members

3.1 .Chapter members shall be those members of ADK who have elected to join a Chapter.

3.2. Chapter members may elect to transfer to membership-at-large or another Chapter upon request.

Section 4. Members-at-Large

4.1. Members-at-large shall be those members who have not elected to join a Chapter.

4.2. Members-at-large may elect to transfer to Chapter memberships upon request.

Section 5. Dues

5.1. The Board shall establish a schedule of dues for membership in ADK, with such membership dues classes as it may deem desirable.

5.2. Dues shall be paid to ADK.

5.3. Each Chapter shall be entitled to a portion of ADK membership dues collected from members of that Chapter, as established by the Board. (See also Article IX: Section 4.3.)

5.4. The procedure to change dues shall be: a. The Board shall approve a resolution notifying the membership of the recommended change. b. The membership shall be provided written notice of such proposal. Publication in the official magazine of ADK shall be deemed equivalent to a written notice. c. The Board shall consider the proposal for ratification not less than sixty (60) days after written notice is given to the membership.

Section 6. Meetings of the Membership

6.1. Annual Meetings.

a. The Board shall set the date, time, and place of such meeting.

b. The Secretary shall cause to be mailed to every member in good standing at each member's address as it appears on the membership roll book of the corporation a notice stating the time and place of any annual meeting. Said notice shall be mailed at least ten (10) days, but not more than fifty (50) days, prior to the meeting. The location of meetings shall be set by the Board, or if called by a petition, may be set in said petition. c. Publication in the official magazine of ADK and the mailing of the same shall be deemed equivalent to a written notice, if such magazine is mailed in conformance with Section 6.1.b, or through electronic (email) communication, provided the same is sent in conformance with Section 6.1.b.

6.2. Special Meetings.

a. May be called by the President.

b. Must be called upon request of a majority of the Board.

c. Must be called if a petition so requesting is signed by at least five hundred (500) members of ADK.

d. Notice of a special meeting shall be given in conformance with sections 6.1.c of this article, and shall also state the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called. No other business but that specified in the notice may be transacted at a special meeting.

6.3. Proxies. At all meetings of the membership, each member shall be entitled to cast his or her vote in person or by an official written proxy that must bear the member's signature.

6.4. Quorum. A quorum of the transaction of business at any meeting of the membership shall be constituted by the presence of one hundred (100) members, or one-tenth of the total membership, whichever is less, in person or by proxy. However, a lesser number may adjourn the meeting for a period

of not more than ten (10) weeks from the date originally scheduled. The Secretary shall cause a notice of the rescheduled date of the meeting to be sent to those members who were not present at the meeting originally called.

6.5. Majority. All matters brought to vote shall be decided by a simple majority vote of the members present in person.

ARTICLE V. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Section 1. Board Composition

1.1. All powers of the corporation shall be exercised by and under the authority of the Board of Directors. During such times as the Board may not be properly constituted, the Executive Committee shall carry out the functions of Board of Directors as stated herein.

1.2. The Board of Directors shall consist of between twelve (12) and twenty (20) Directors. Directors shall be at least twenty-one (21) years of age and be members in good standing with ADK. Directors should be selected on the basis of their demonstrated awareness of the purposes and needs of the corporation, their willingness to serve, and their professional or individual skills which contribute to the board-related functions of the corporation. With the exception of the Audit and Nomination Committees, the Chair of each standing committee shall also be a member of the Board of Directors, as well as an individual selected from among the Trustees of the Advisory Council.

1.3. Individuals serving as Directors shall receive no compensation for serving in this role, but may receive reimbursement for reasonable approved expenses.

1.4. To achieve staggered terms, the initial term for the first six (6) selected Directors shall be three (3) years and the initial term for the remaining Directors shall be two (2) years. Thereafter, each Director shall hold office for a term of three (3) years and until his or her successor is duly elected and qualified or until his or her earlier resignation, removal from office, or death.

1.5. Directors shall be limited to three (3) consecutive terms and the Board shall be managed to ensure a turnover that maximizes commitment and facilitates new ideas.

1.6. Directors shall be elected by a majority of the current Directors who are present at a meeting for which there is a quorum.

Section 2. Responsibilities of Directors and the Board of Directors

2.1. Directors shall act for ADK's interest in any way consistent with its Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws, and ensure that ADK, and its Chapters, are in compliance with all laws, its Bylaws, and ADK's Certificate of Incorporation.

2.2. The Board shall adopt ADK's budget, authorize capital expenditures, support fundraising and major gift development, ensure ADK has the resources to carry out its mission, approve banking relationships, provide for an annual audit, and as necessary, make for bonding of the Treasurer.

2.3. Only the Board at a regular or special meeting shall establish ADK policies. This provision shall not prevent the Officers or duly constituted committees of ADK from taking a position on its behalf in connection with pending legislation, constitutional amendments, or litigation relative to matters affecting the objectives of ADK as declared in its Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws, or Mission Statement, provided always that the position taken shall be consistent with the Board policy of ADK as declared either in its Certificate of Incorporation or in a prior specific action taken by the Board. Such actions taken shall be reported to both the Board and Executive Committee at their next meeting.

2.4. The Board shall establish the procedures to be used in all elections.

2.5. The Board may delegate certain of its responsibilities to the Executive Committee.

2.6. All members of the Board shall regularly attend meetings of the Board. In the event a Director cannot attend a meeting, he/she shall notify the President or Executive Director prior to such Board meeting.

2.7. All members of the Board shall financially contribute in a meaningful way to the organization, shall represent ADK at public events, and should further help with fundraising efforts to ensure that ADK has sufficient resources to carry out its mission.

2.8. No Officer or Director shall engage in, or condone, any conduct that is disloyal, disruptive or damaging to or competes with ADK. No Officer or Director shall take any action, or establish any interest, that compromises his or her ability to represent ADK's best interest.

Section 3. Conflict of Interest

3.1. A member of the Board or member of the Executive Committee must abstain from voting or attempting to influence the vote or participate in the discussion on any matter before the Board that places him or her in a conflict of interest.

3.2. A conflict of interest exists when a matter to be acted upon by the Executive Committee and/ or the Board confers a direct, substantial benefit to any Director, or business or agency from which such a Director derives an income or has authority in governance.

3.3. A member of the Board shall disclose any conflict or potential conflict of interest as soon as he or she recognizes the potential conflict. If self-disclosure is not revealed, the President or any member of the Board can, prior to voting on a specific matter in which a potential conflict of interest exists, inquire whether any member of the Board desires to abstain from voting because of a conflict of interest. If no conflict of interest is disclosed but the President or any other member of the Board states the opinion that such a conflict exists and the challenged Director refuses to abstain from deliberations or voting as requested, the President shall immediately call for a vote of the Directors to determine whether the challenged Director has a conflict of interest. If a majority of the Directors present vote to require the abstention of the challenged Director, the Director shall not be permitted to vote.

3.4. Any discussion of a potential conflict of interest issue must be recorded in the minutes and must be disclosed to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee must generate an Annual Conflict of Interest Statement.

Section 4. A Director may be removed from office pursuant to the Not-For-Profit Corporation Law. In addition, a member of the Board who has not regularly attended meetings or contributed meaningfully to ADK on an annual basis may be contacted by the President, either at his or her discretion or at the direction of more than two members of the Board. The President shall inform such member in writing of his or her failure to meet the Director responsibilities as outlined herein. Such Director shall have thirty (30) days to provide the President with a written response. Both writings shall be presented to the Board prior to the subsequent meeting of the Board, at which time the Directors shall vote on whether to allow such member to fulfill the remainder of his or her term.

Section 5. Meetings of the Board of Directors

5.1. Regular. Regular meetings, which may be conducted by teleconference, videoconference or other means of electronic communication where Directors can hear or otherwise participate in any discussion, shall be held quarterly at such date, time and place within or outside of the State of New York, as the

President or any five (5) Directors may fix, unless waived by the President. Such meetings require at least ten (10) days' notice to each member of the Board, at such date, time, and place as the President may set, along with a proposed agenda at least five (5) days prior to such meeting.

5.2. Special. Special meetings of the Board may be called at any time by the President or, in case of the President's absence or inability to act, by the Vice President, or upon the written request of a majority of Directors. Such meetings, which shall include meetings by electronic communication, require at least ten (10) days' notice to each Director, at such date, time, and place as the President may set or as soon as practicable when there are extenuating circumstances. Any Director may waive notice of any meeting in writing. Any notice of a special meeting shall state the purpose of that meeting and the transaction of business at any special meeting should be limited to that purpose

5.3. Notice. Electronic notice, such as email, shall be deemed equivalent to a written notice, if mailed in conformance with the requirements of Sections 5.1 and 5.2. The attendance of a Director at any meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except where a Director attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened. Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of any regular meeting of the Board need to be specified in the notice or waiver of the notice of such meeting.

5.4. Quorum. A quorum for the transaction of business at any virtual, electronic, or in-person meeting of the Board shall be constituted by the presence of a simple majority.

5.5. Majority. Except as may otherwise be provided for herein or by law, all matters brought to vote shall be decided by a simple majority vote of the Directors present in person or appearing electronically when so appearing is authorized.

5.6. Action by the Board without a Meeting. The Board may take action without a meeting as provided for in the Not-for-Profit Corporation Law.

ARTICLE VI. OFFICERS

Section 1. Officers

1.1 Elected Officers. The President, Vice President, and Second Vice President shall be elected by the Board in odd-numbered years to serve for a term of two (2) years, or until their successors are elected.

1.2. Secretary and Treasurer. The Secretary and Treasurer shall be nominated by the President and approved by the Board for a term of two (2) years.

1.3. Employment. Officers other than the Executive Director and Counsel must be members of ADK who are not in the employ, full or part time, of ADK.

1.4. Executive Director.

a. The Executive Director shall be an Officer of the corporation and shall be appointed by the Executive Committee with the approval of the Board.

b. The Executive Director shall be an ex officio member of all committees (except the Nominating Committee and Executive Committee) and shall have no vote at either committee or Board meetings.

c. The Executive Director shall be an employee-at-will and shall serve at the pleasure of the Board.

d. The Executive Director shall be the staff liaison to the Board of Directors, members, and volunteers.

1.5. Counsel.

- a. A Counsel may be appointed as an Officer of the corporation by the Executive Committee with the approval of the Board.
- b. The Counsel shall be an ex officio, non-voting member of the Executive Committee.

Section 2. Officer Responsibilities

2.1. President.

- a. The President is the chief leader of ADK's Board of Directors, and provides overall guidance to ADK's volunteer leadership, consistent with ADK's mission, policies, and public service goals. The President shall be the Board liaison to the Executive Director. b. The President shall preside at all meetings of ADK, of the Board, and of the Executive Committee.
- c. The President shall be an ex officio member of all committees (except the Nominating Committee and Executive Committee) and shall have no vote at committee meetings.
- d. The President shall appoint chairs for all committees.

2.2. Vice President.

- a. The Vice President shall, in the absence of the President, or in the event of the President's inability or refusal to act, perform the duties of the President, and when so acting shall have all the powers of, and be subject to all the restrictions of, the President. b. The Vice President shall perform such duties as from time to time may be delegated by the President.

2.3. Second Vice Presidents. The Second Vice President shall perform such duties as from time to time may be delegated by the President, and shall, in the absence of the Vice President, or in the event of the Vice President's inability or refusal to act, perform such duties of the Vice President.

2.4. Secretary.

- a. The Secretary shall maintain the minutes of all Member, Board, and Executive Committee meetings.
- b. The Secretary shall have custody of the seal of the corporation, and affix and attest the same to documents when duly authorized by the Board.
- c. The Secretary shall ensure proper notice is given of all meetings for the Members, Board, and Executive Committee.
- d. The Secretary shall perform such duties as from time to time may be delegated by the President.

2.5. Treasurer.

- a. The Treasurer shall have oversight of the financial affairs of ADK, and provide periodic reports to the Executive Committee and Board.

b. The Treasurer shall ensure that an audit is commissioned and presented on an annual basis to the Board.

2.6. Executive Director. The Executive Director shall be the principal administrative officer of ADK, charged with operational decision-making for the organization.

2.7. Counsel. Responsibilities and duties of the Counsel shall be as determined by the Executive Committee.

Section 3. Nomination and Election of Officers

3.1. Elections. The Board shall establish the procedures to be used in all elections.

3.2. Nominations

a. The Nominating Committee shall provide a slate of Officer candidates in accordance with the established Board policy.

b. Additional nominations for Officers may be made. Such nominations must be in writing and signed by at least five (5) Directors. Such nominations must be filed in accordance with the established Board policy.

3.3. Inspection and Reporting of Elections

a. In the event of a contested election, three (3) tellers must be appointed, who shall not be members of the Board, and shall act as Election Inspectors and shall certify the results of the election to the Executive Director.

b. In the event of an uncontested election, the Secretary shall cast one vote on behalf of the slate and shall so certify the results of the election to the Executive Director.

Section 4. Resignation or Filling Vacancies

4.1. Removal. An Officer may be removed from office pursuant to the Not-For-Profit Corporation Law and in conformance with Article V, Section 4.

4.2. Resignation. An Officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Board, the President, or the Secretary of ADK. Unless otherwise specified in the notice, the resignation shall take effect upon receipt thereof by the Board, the President, or the Secretary. Acceptance of the resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.

4.3. Vacancies. Any vacancy in an Officer position, other than the Executive Director or Counsel, shall be filled for the balance of the term of office by nomination by the President subject to approval by the Board.

ARTICLE VII. ADVISORY Council

Section 1.

1.1. Purpose. An Advisory Council is hereby established to be made up of those Trustees appointed or elected and serving as provided in Section 1.2 and 1.3. The Advisory Council shall advise and provide counsel to the Board of Directors and exercise those powers established by these Bylaws.

1.2. Trustees. The Advisory Council shall be composed of individual Trustees who shall be appointed, elected, or serve as follows):

a. Each Chapter in good standing shall have no more than one (1) representative Trustee on the Advisory Council and shall submit the name of such Trustee to the Executive Director in writing and may also include an alternate Trustee;

b. Trustees-at-Large: There shall be on the Advisory Council up to three additional Trustees, appointed by the President, to serve in an at-large capacity; Board of Directors: There shall be no more than one member of the Advisory Council selected to serve on ADK's Board of Directors, provided he or she meets the requirements herein set forth for service on the Board.

1.3. Qualifications of Trustees. To the extent practical, the individuals appointed or elected as Trustees shall have an established involvement with ADK, to include committee participation or volunteer service, and shall have a demonstrated professional commitment to the betterment of the organization.

1.4. Term. Trustees shall have two-year terms, commencing on the date that notice of their selection is provided to the Executive Director. Trustees shall not be elected or appointed for more than two (2) consecutive, two-year terms.

1.5. Removal. Any Trustee may be removed by the Advisory Council for conduct determined to be inconsistent with the values or mission of ADK.

1.6. Vacancies. In case of a vacancy on the Advisory Council due to death, resignation, removal, or disqualification of a Trustee, a successor shall be appointed by the Chapter or, in the case of an at-large Trustee, by the President, to serve the remaining term of the departing Trustee.

1.7. Compensation and Reimbursement. Trustees shall not receive compensation for their services but may be reimbursed for reasonable expenses as they relate to attending meetings of the Advisory Council if approved by the Board of Directors.

1.8. Meetings of the Advisory Council. The Advisory Council shall meet consistent with its Charter, which shall include an annual meeting. Meetings may be held by teleconference, videoconference or other means of electronic communication where the members can hear or otherwise participate in any discussion.

1.9. Quorum and Voting. A quorum of the Advisory Committee shall consist of a majority of the total Trustees. Trustees may not vote by proxy. Except as expressly provided in these Bylaws, a majority of those attending a meeting of the Advisory Council when a quorum is present may take any action in the conduct of business authorized or required to be taken by the Advisory Council pursuant to these Bylaws or authorized by the Board of Directors.

1.10. Duties of Trustees. All Trustees and the Advisory Council are expected to:

(a) attend the Annual Advisory Council Meeting, absent extenuating circumstances, which may be held electronically;

(b) make annual or more frequent reports to the Board of Directors;

(c) respond to requests from the Board of Directors;

(d) promote programs, goals, and other objectives of ADK. Although referred to as "Trustees," nothing herein is intended to confer any fiduciary duties on the Trustees; and the Trustees shall have only those

duties and obligations set forth in these Bylaws and shall not have any other duties or obligations to ADK, fiduciary or otherwise.

ARTICLE VIII. COMMITTEES

Section 1. Establishment

1.1 Program Committees. Program Committees are responsible for furthering the mission of ADK. The President may establish additional program committees subject to approval of the Board. Once created, such committees may be dissolved only by the Board.

1.2. Standing Committees. The following are established Standing Committees:

- a. Executive
- b. Nominating
- c. Finance
- d. Properties
- e. Human Resources
- f. Audit
- g. Stewardship

1.3. Committee Charters. All committees must submit a Charter to the Board for approval. Each Charter is to establish a four-year review period and will resubmit its Charter to the Board within this established period.

1.4. Working Groups. The President may create and appoint ad hoc working groups for special projects or issues. Such working groups will automatically dissolve at the end of the term of the appointing President, unless continued by the incoming President.

1.5. Other Committees. In addition to any standing committee, the Board may approve such other committees as it deems necessary. Dissolution of such other committees shall be by motion of the President and shall require Board approval.

Section 2. Executive Committee

2.1. Membership. The membership of the Executive Committee shall consist of the elected and appointed Officers of the Club, the Executive Director, and no more than three (3) Directors elected by the Board from among the Directors to serve two-year terms. The Executive Director shall serve ex-officio as a non-voting member. Any appointed Counsel shall be an ex officio, non-voting member of the committee.

2.2. Responsibilities. The committee shall act for the Board and in the best interests of ADK in accordance with the Certificate of Incorporation, the Bylaws of ADK, [and] the Executive Committee Charter. Any time the Board is not properly constituted as required herein, the Executive Committee shall operate as the interim Board with all the authority and obligations as herein put forth.

2.3. Meetings. The Executive Committee shall meet monthly, either in person or by videoconference or teleconference or other electronic means, unless such a monthly meeting is waived by the President.

Section 3. Nominating Committee

3.1. Membership. a. Membership of the Nominating Committee shall consist of five (5) Directors, two (2) of whom are elected from the Board in accordance with the committee charter. b. The President shall designate a chair of the committee. The designated chair will then select three (3) additional members.

3.2. Responsibilities. The committee members shall complete their responsibilities in providing a slate of nominations for the elected Officers as provided for within the charter of the committee and established Board policy.

Section 4. Finance Committee. The President shall appoint a chair subject to approval of the Board. The committee shall operate in accordance with its Charter.

Section 5. Properties Committee. The President shall appoint a chair subject to approval of the Board. The committee shall operate in accordance with its Charter.

Section 6. Human Resources Committee. The President shall appoint a chair subject to approval of the Board. The committee shall operate in accordance with its Charter.

Section 7. Stewardship Committee. The President shall appoint a chair subject to approval of the Board. The committee shall operate in accordance with its Charter.

Section 8. Audit Committee. The President shall appoint a chair subject to the approval of the Board. The committee shall operate in accordance with its Charter.

ARTICLE IX. Chapters Section

1. Purpose. ADK and its Chapters work in partnership to provide opportunities for ADK members to participate in all facets of ADK and Chapter governance, programs, and activities. Each provides resources and opportunities that enhance the capabilities, vitality, and influence of ADK and the Chapters in seeking to achieve ADK's mission.

Section 2. Chapter Status

2.1. Status. Chapters are subdivisions of ADK, and are subject to all provisions of its Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws, and Board policies and procedures.

2.2. Programs and Activities. A Chapter's activities and programs shall be consistent with ADK's Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws, and Board policies and procedures.

2.3. Establishment of a Chapter. Whenever at least twenty-five (25) members of ADK desire to form a Chapter, they shall apply in writing to the Board, stating their purpose and the proposed name of the Chapter. If such application is approved by the Board, the applicants may proceed to organize as a Chapter.

2.4. Dissolving a Chapter.

a. A Chapter's status as a Chapter of ADK may be terminated by the Board, when the Board determines that a Chapter's actions or activities are inconsistent with or injurious to ADK's Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws, or Board policies and procedures.

b. When a Chapter's status is terminated, members of that Chapter shall be given the opportunity to transfer to another Chapter or become members-at-large.

c. Fund balances of a terminated Chapter shall be transferred to ADK. Pending dissolution of any Chapter, ADK may demand that the Chapter transfer to ADK any fund balance or other asset currently held by the Chapter unless prohibited by law.

2.5. Merging Chapters. Chapters may merge in accordance with the procedures established by the Board.

Section 3. Chapter Structure

3.1. Chapters shall be unincorporated associations organized under the Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Adirondack Mountain Club, Inc., and as such will create and maintain a Chapter Charter that at a minimum, will:

- a. Establish the Chapter's name.
- b. Provide for Chapter Officers
- c. Provide for the establishment of a bank account.
- d. Provide for an annual meeting for its membership.
- e. Provide for programming, outings, or some form of activities.

3.2. Chapters that were separately incorporated as of the effective date of these Bylaws shall be permitted to retain their existing status, provided such status does not jeopardize ADK's tax-exempt, not-for-profit corporation status under federal or state law, and provided such entity is operated in accordance with the ADK Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws, and Board policies and procedures.

Section 4. Chapter Finances

4.1. Annual Statement. Each Chapter shall ensure that an Annual Statement or Report, to include a Balance Sheet and Statement of Income and Expense, is completed and filed with ADK's administrative offices by the end of the first quarter following the end of the Chapter's fiscal year.

4.2. Financial Affairs. Each Chapter shall be responsible for its own finances and shall ensure that an appropriate accounting system or record of the Chapter's financial affairs is maintained, kept current, and made available for inspect by ADK at all times.

4.3. Dues. Each Chapter shall be entitled to a portion of all ADK membership dues collected from the members of that Chapter, to be paid by ADK on a monthly basis, as determined by the formula established by the Board. The procedure to change said formula shall be:

- a. The Board shall approve a resolution notifying Chapters and membership of the recommended change.
- b. The Chapters and membership shall be provided written notice of such proposal. Publication in the official magazine of ADK shall be deemed equivalent to a written notice.
- c. The Board shall consider the proposal for ratification not less than one hundred (100) days after written notice is given.

Section 5. Chapter Membership

5.1. Any person accepted for membership in ADK qualifies for membership in a Chapter.

5.2. Chapters shall be entitled to prescribe additional qualifications and prerequisites for Chapter activities consistent with the ADK Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws, and Board policies and procedures.

ARTICLE X. Finances Section

Section 1: Fiscal Year. ADK's fiscal year shall be the calendar year.

Section 2. Depositories. Funds of the corporation may be deposited from time to time to the credit of the corporation with depositories selected by the Board.

Section 3. Signatories. All checks, drafts, or other orders for the payment of money, notes, acceptances, or other evidence of indebtedness issued in the name of the corporation shall be signed by the designated individual or individuals, actual or facsimile, in the manner that shall be determined by the Board.

Section 4. Audit. The accounts of ADK shall be audited each year by an independent certified public accountant.

Section 5. Compensation. Directors, and elected and appointed Officers (except for the Executive Director and Counsel) shall serve without compensation, but may be reimbursed for reasonable expenses. Nothing herein shall otherwise deprive a Director from benefitting from a contract with ADK following a competitive bidding process, provided that such process was evaluated equally for all applicants. No employee of the corporation shall receive any funds from the corporation or any pecuniary profit from the operations thereof, except reasonable compensation for services actually rendered to it and reimbursement for expenses incurred in the performance of such services.

Section 6. Investments. The funds of ADK may be retained in whole or in part in cash or be invested and reinvested from time to time in such property, real, personal or otherwise, including stocks, bonds or other securities, as the Board may deem desirable.

ARTICLE XI. Indemnification

ADK may, to the fullest extent now or hereafter permitted by and in accordance with the standards and procedures provided for by the Not-for-Profit Corporation Law and any amendments thereto, indemnify any person made, or threatened to be made, a party to any action or proceeding by reason of the fact that the person, or the person's testator or intestate was a Director, Officer, employee, or agent of ADK, against judgments, fines, amounts paid in settlements, and reasonable expenses, including attorneys' fees. The Board may purchase insurance for such purpose if it is deemed desirable to do so.

ARTICLE XII. Corporate Status

ADK is a non-stock, not-for-profit corporation, organized and operated exclusively for charitable, conservation, education, and recreation purposes. Specific restrictions apply to the distribution and use of ADK assets as set forth in the Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws.

ARTICLE XIII. Construction

Section 1. Conflict. If any conflict exists between the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation and these Bylaws, the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation shall govern.

Section 2. Notice. Notice required under any provision of these Bylaws shall be deemed to be given on the date it is mailed or otherwise sent.

ARTICLE XIV. Adoption, Amendment, and Repeal Section

Section 1. Adoption, Amendment, or Repeal. The power to adopt, amend, or repeal the Bylaws or Certificate of Incorporation shall be vested exclusively with the Board of Directors, provided that such adoption, amendment, or repeal is provided to the membership in advance of its effective date in order to allow for a meaningful notice and comment period.

Section 2. Amendment. The Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws may be amended in the following manner: Any proposed change to either the Certificate of Incorporation or the Bylaws must be approved at a regular or special meeting of the Board by a two-thirds vote of the Board members present and voting at such meeting.

ARTICLE XV. Effective Date These Bylaws shall take effect on January 1, 2021, at which time the prior Bylaws of ADK shall be of no further force and effect. All Officers, Directors, and Executive Committee members shall remain in office as of said effective date until expiration of their current terms.

ARTICLE XVI. Dissolution Upon the dissolution of the corporation, the Board, by a two-third vote, shall redirect assets to two or more existing nonprofits with the same or similar purpose. Any assets not so disposed shall be disposed of by a court of competent jurisdiction of the county in which the principal office of the corporation is located. In no event may any assets be appropriated for the direct or indirect benefit of existing or former Board members.

ARTICLE XVII. Periodic Review

The President shall ensure that the Board reviews and updates each of ADK's policies and Bylaws at least once every five (5) years, to include its destruction of records policy which shall be updated to reflect current best practices.

Adopted: Effective 1-1-2021